
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on 
Wednesday, 9 February 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Objectives (Pages 11 - 16)

6. Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Pages 17 - 66)

7. Surveillance Camera Policy (Pages 67 - 80)



8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None. 

Members

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Samir Jassal
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee

Monday, 22 November 2021  7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: John Caller 
Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben 
Sarah Gow 
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Samir Jassal
Gurbax Singh

Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services) 
James Larkin Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Pat Knight Head of Revenues & Benefits 
Jackie Baker Assistant Revenues & Benefits Manager 
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)
14. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Mulheran. Cllr John Caller substituted.  

15. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 23 September 2021 were signed by the 
Chair.

16. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what 
their interest is. 

No declarations of interest were made.

17. Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The Committee was presented with information on the existing Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and asked to note the work undertaken on the review of the current Council Tax 
Reduction (CTR) Scheme.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits guided Members through the report and drew their 
attention to key points concerning the Scheme, its aims, the additional protections in place, 
how the Scheme would be easier to understand and what was in place to protect claimants 
from exceptional hardship. More detailed information was available in the report from pages 
11-14.  

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

2

The Head of Revenues & Benefits assured Members that pension age households would not 
be affected by the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits further updated Members on the progress made on the 
review of the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme.

 The consultation document was finalised on 20 October 2021 and consultation 
commenced on Friday 22 October 2021 

 Any individual claimants that experienced hardship from the changes to the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme would be able to apply for support from the Exceptional 
Hardship Fund 

 The proposed timetable for the consultation was 9 weeks from Friday 22 October 
2021 to Friday 24 December 2021. Once it had been approved by Cabinet and Full 
Council at the budget setting meeting on Tuesday, 22 February 2022 then calculation 
and production of 2022-2023 Council Tax bills including the approved CTRS would 
commence from Wednesday, 23 February 2021 

 The consultation had been live for just over four weeks and two hundred responses 
had been received already; the Head of Revenues & Benefits had spoken with the 
person hosting the server for the consultation and he had advised that it was a very 
good response considering how early in the consultation it was 

 The Head of Revenues & Benefits had received the contact information from the 
Community Involvement Officer for various third party organisations that may have 
more information about certain groups of people to consult and the best method to 
reach them. The Head of Revenues & Benefits had scheduled those meetings in the 
near future 

 The team had taken a high number of calls regarding the consultation and had 
provided assistance to them over the phone 

 The team were conscious of digital poverty and had sent hard copies of the 
documents out to certain groups to make it easier for them to respond 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits encouraged all Members to contact their residents and 
ensure that they were aware of the consultation and the need for them to compete it. The 
Revenues & Benefits Team were there to assist, and the Head of Revenues & Benefits 
asked that Members refer any resident or groups who were having trouble completing the 
document to the service. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits fielded questions from Members and explained that: 

 The service was not monitoring the types of people that were responding to the 
consultation as the responses were fed to a hosted server however Members should 
be assured that invites would be issued to every single existing claimant in 
Gravesham. The Customer Services Team were currently sending out invites in 
batches of 500 a day, so as not overload the team, and were also issuing invitations 
to respond to a sample of non-claimants so that a full response could be achieved for 
the consultation from all different groups of residents 

 Once a good spectrum of responses had been received, the Head of Revenues & 
Benefits advised that he would review the responses to see if there were any areas 
that had been missed and would require further targeted action. 

 The service would be working with Communications in the near future to target 
communities that may not have a good response rate or may not have received the 

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

3

initial messages circulated to the wider Community. The proposed advertising 
campaigns would hopefully mean that every group in Gravesham would be able to 
give their views on the proposed Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 Various methods of advertising the consultation had already taken place such as an 
article in the Your Borough magazine which went to all households in the Borough  
and various documents had been included in the Members information pack. The link 
to the consultation was also on the front page of the Councils website     

 The nine-week window for the consultation had to be held in its current timetable and 
the team are considered to have enough time to analyse the results and get a report 
to Full Council in February 2022. 

 There wasn’t an overall number target for the consultation but the Head of Revenues 
& Benefits wanted an even spread of responses across the spectrum; a comparison 
between other neighbouring authorities could be conducted to see if a good level of 
responses had been received 

 A comparison hadn’t been conducted by the team but the Head of Revenues & 
Benefits would receive that information from an external consultant; however the 
Committee should note that as the Head of Revenues & Benefits was also 
responsible for Medway Council it could be reported that Gravesham’s response 
figures so far were better than Medway Councils 

 Ensuring that all people who may find it difficult to respond to the consultation such 
as residents with disabilities was a shared concern of the Head of Revenues & 
Benefits Service; he implored Members to pass along the details of any groups that 
should be contacted regarding the consultation. The proposed scheme was not about 
cost cutting and the team were prepared to reach out to all residents that required 
further assistance for any reason 

Members noted the work undertaken on the review of the current Council Tax Reduction 
(CTR) Scheme. 

18. LIFT - Outcomes Update 

The Committee was provided with information on outcomes to date from the Low Income 
Family Tracker (LIFT). 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits undertook a demonstration of the LIFT system at the 
previous Committee so that Members were aware of how the system worked and the types 
of information it stored. Since that meeting, further information had been collected and it was 
the intention of the Head of Revenues & Benefits to bring regular reports on the outcomes of 
interventions using the LIFT system to the Committee. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits directed Members attention to page 44 of the report and 
updated Members on the progress of the three objectives of the system: 

 Objective 1: To gain a better understanding of the low-income cohort in the Borough 
 Objective 2: Fewer people in financial crisis in the Borough 
 Objective 3: Improve Council Tax recovery

The Head of Revenues & Benefits fielded questions from Members and explained that:

 Behaviour change techniques were cost effective techniques that we used to 
encourage people to undertake certain behaviours; those techniques were used in 

Page 5



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

4

the letters sent out to residents as a way of making it more likely that residents would 
become interested and read the whole letter instead of glancing at it and throwing it 
away. An example of the technique was the inclusion of box with a bold border, grey 
background and certain wording that caught their attention such as ‘X amount of 
people receive a Council Tax reduction, should you be included?’. In the past, 
behaviour change techniques had been used by the Head of Revenues & Benefits 
and it actually improved Council Tax collection rates. The team would measure the 
success of the techniques by measuring the response rate of the new intervention 
letter compared to the standard letter    

 The system had already identified that there were 66 households with 47 children in 
relative poverty that would be negatively affected by the proposed Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme. Having been identified already, those households would be 
proactively worked with to support them through the Exceptional Hardship Fund 

 The Head of Revenues & Benefits was initially disappointed in the take up of 
Discretionary Housing Payments as seventeen potential claimants had been 
identified but as of today, only five had claimed the payments. The low take up meant 
that the Service needed to be more proactive and engage with those potential 
claimants. Officers would look to send out further full case reviews to determine if 
there had been any change of circumstances at the households 

 The funding for Discretionary Housing Payments had increased this year from £162K 
to £252K; the reason for the increase was due to the Service spending every penny 
of the grant money every year, utilising it to its fullest potential. Due to the Councils 
success in spending the grant money, Gravesham was one of the few Councils that 
were awarded an additional £90K 

 The Discretionary Housing Payments were there to assist residents with short term 
financial hardship; they gave people the chance, for example, to find more suitable 
property while the Council supported them by paying for their rent. The Service 
reviewed all cases that applied for the payments to ensure consistency across the 
board 

 The system being considered for use by Housing (Xantura Project) and the LIFT 
system were pieces of software identified through the Financial Hardship Group led 
by KCC. The LIFT system aimed to protect vulnerable residents and assist with the 
recovery of arrears whereas the Housing System was more concerned with the 
prevention of Homelessness but they both complimented each other. The overlap 
was also beneficial as it allowed the two services to view different data sets 

 The Head of Revenues & Benefits previously shared Members concerns regarding 
the effects of the Furlough Scheme ending but severe effects hadn’t been seen in the 
case load. The true outcome of the Furlough Scheme ending would be better 
measured after Christmas as the Christmas period should help traders financially 

 The Council should be notified of all power of attorneys for residents; those residents 
with power of attorneys would have all Council letters/documents sent to that person 
instead of the resident. The Service would always engage with the power of attorney 
where appropriate. Some difficulties arose when the Council weren’t notified of power 
of attorney but the Head of Revenues & Benefits agreed to look into the matter 
further 

The Chair thanked the officers for detailed responses. 

19. Annual review of the Information Governance Shared Service 

Page 6



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

5

The Committee was provided with a copy of the annual review that has been conducted in 
respect of the Information Governance Shared Service with Medway Council.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the Council were supportive of the shared 
service continuing but it was recognised that there were several actions that needed to be 
undertaken to improve the service for the coming year: 

 Action taken to enhance arrangements to demonstrate the equitable allocation of 
resources between the partner councils. This would enable each partner to 
determine the use of resources available to them, effectively manage and monitor 
performance and to be able to demonstrate Value For Money (VFM) against those 
work programmes

 Develop a suite of KPIs to demonstrate achievement of expected performance 
standards and VFM of the Shared Service in future years

Cllr Hills praised the Service and also praised the Legal Shared Service as he felt the newly 
appointed officers had vastly improved the level of service received. 

The Chair thanked the Director (Corporate Services) for her report. 

20. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2021-22 

The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2021-22 
(July to September 2021). 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits directed Members attention to appendix two, gave a 
statistical overview of the Councils performance indicators that pertained to his service and 
advised the Committee on the latest updates: 

PI23 - Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)

 The quarter two processing time was 14.2 days which wasn’t as strong as last year 
(13.8 days) but nationally Councils hadn’t been performing as quickly on turnaround 
time due to the additional work that the Service had to undertake 

 The national average for processing new claims was 20 days; Gravesham were 5.8 
days ahead of the national average 

 The average processing time for KCC District Councils was also 20 days 

PI 24 - Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims 
(days)

 As at end of October, the average processing time for 5.5 days which showed a 
downward trend 

 The national average was 7 days and the average processing time for KCC District 
Councils was also 7 days 

 The service was in the top quartile for most accurate claim processing turnaround 
times; far higher than the national average 

 As at the end of October, Council Tax collection stood at 65.5% and Business Rates 
Collection had decreased by 5% from last year’s figures. The decrease in Business 

Page 7



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

6

Rates Collection was due to the Government changing the Retail Discount Scheme 
on 01 July 2021 from 100% relief to 66% relief. The Council had to rebill all 
businesses and charge them for the additional 34% from July 2021 onwards; in order 
to assist businesses with the additional payments, their bills were spread out to the 
end of March 2022 

 The collection had also been affected by limited court dates being made available as 
courts were clearing the backlog of court cases deferred due to the pandemic. 
However, the council has obtained additional court dates recently to enable 
movement of recovery action to a more formal stage for appropriate cases.

PI 26 - Total number of reported corporate complaints 

 Of the 79 complaints received in quarter two, only three went to stage three 
complaints 

 In line with the Local Government Ombudsmen recommendation and other local 
authorities, from Q3 the number of stages involved in the process will reduce from 
three to two; there will no longer be a Stage Three (Chief Executive) response 

 It was recognised that a proportion of the complaints received could actually be 
considered as service user requests 

PI 50 - Total number of people signed up to citizens access

 There were 10681 users of citizens access; a 69% increase from this time last year 

PI 49 - % of posts involved in shared service arrangements 

 All officers and nearly all Members had been transferred over to Microsoft Office 365 
with positive feedback reported 

 Members were encouraged to report any concerns or requests for additional training 
to the M365 Project Support Team 

 The Council were in discussions with Ring Central for a new cloud based telephony 
system. Unfortunately the transfer to the new system was slower than originally 
anticipated due to the configuration of the system and the Council relying on the 
providers to transfer the numbers over wholesale to the new system; they all had to 
be transferred at once instead of one at a time 

 The date for conclusion of the project was projected to be February 2022; it would 
allow officers to answer calls from the Councils office telephone numbers wherever 
they were working from, either through a mobile phone or an app thus increasing 
connectivity for all staff 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service provided the latest figures for the 
performance indicators related to his service: 

PI 55 - % of internal audit recommendations implemented

 A cumulative total of 33 recommendations were due to be implemented by the end of 
Q2 and as of 30 September 2021, 12 of these remained outstanding 

 At the end of October, the % implemented had increased to around 66% but accurate 
figures were not able to be provided for the meeting tonight as the service was in the 
process of issuing reminders for the end of November and a number of responses 
had not yet been received from the responsible officers.

Page 8



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

7

 Members could draw a level of assurance from the fact that the number of 
recommendations as a whole remained relatively low, which suggested that the 
internal audit process had not identified large numbers of control issues. 

 As of tonight, the planned delivery for Audit assurance reviews stood at 43% with a 
further 14% underway, which was broadly in line with where the service had been at 
the same point in previous years. As such, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Services advised that there was no reason to think that the target of 95% 
would not be met. 

 In terms of counter fraud activity, as of today, the total for the year so far was 
cashable savings of approximately £227,000 in the form of additional Council tax, 
business rates, Covid grants and housing benefit overpayments. The service also 
had notional savings of £93,000 associated with the recovery of a Council property.

The Director (Corporate Services) provided the latest update for the performance against the 
council’s policy commitment to manage key business risks:

 PI56 - % of information requests completed within statutory deadlines – there had 
been a decline in performance during Q2, primarily driven by restructures and 
changing responsibilities within two council directorates. It was expected that 
performance would return to an improved level in Q3.

 The Annual Governance Statement was adopted at the Finance & Audit Committee 
on 20 July 2021; Members concluded that there were no significant control issues 
identified for the period 

 With regard to risk management arrangements, in addition to holding and monitoring 
service level risk registers and the corporate risk register the Council recently formed 
a risk management officer working group who’s remit was to raise the profile of and 
to promote risk management throughout the council 

 In quarter two, the IG Team had developed project plans to provide focus on areas 
for improvement in the handling of information requests and the Council’s compliance 
with the data protection legislation 

In response to Members questions, the Director (Corporate Services) explained that: 

 The reasons for the large increase in Housing Option corporate complaints were 
residents seeking advice and information about the new Housing Allocation Policy 
and their housing band being changed 

 With regards to home working, it had many benefits and had allowed officers to work 
from home several days a week whilst still maintaining constant cover in the office. 
The Chief Executive approved of a flexible working arrangement and the Councils 
recent Hybrid Policy had gone live but he made it clear that the Council was a 
community organisation and officers needed to be available for residents to contact. 
There weren’t any concerns about performance dropping off due to the 
implementation of hybrid working arrangements but there was a recognition that 
managers needed to undergo training in order to better learn how to manage officers 
who home worked. Members noted the Hybrid Working Arrangements were part of a 
six month pilot; there was no commitment to continue the arrangements past March 
2022 but if performance did not drop then there was no reason to end the hybrid 
working arrangements 

 An email will be circulated outside of the meeting informing Members what the 
average time was for corporate complaints to be resolved 

Page 9



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 22.11.2021

8

 The corporate complaints process was amended as it was noticed that a three stage 
process meant complaints became drawn out; comments and recommendations had 
been received from the Local Government Ombudsmen about speeding up the 
process and moving to a two stage process. Following that advice, the Council 
brought itself in line with a number of other local authorities who operated a two 
stage process; if the complaint couldn’t be resolved at a local level then it could be 
forwarded to the Local Government Ombudsman much quicker as well 

 Regular updates will be brought to the Committee on the telephony project as part of 
the Corporate Performance Reports; the Director (Corporate Services) agreed to 
pass on Cllr Gows point about automated call pickup not recognising user voices and 
making the process difficult, to the Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) 

Members praised the performance outlined in the report which was impressive considering 
the effects of the pandemic. 

The Chair thanked the officers for their detailed updates. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:36pm. 

Page 10



Classification:   Public
Key Decision:    No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee

Date: 09 February 2022

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Objectives

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with details of the 
updated objectives linked to the continuing shared service arrangements with Medway 
Council.

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the amended objectives for the shared service arrangement.

1. Introduction

1.1 Since December 2015, the council has had in place a shared service with 
Medway Council for the delivery of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud service.  
This involved the transfer of all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who 
were employed within Internal Audit and Fraud at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 The shared service arrangements are subject to an annual review in June/July 
each year, the most recent of which took place in July 2021 and was reported to 
the Performance & Administration Committee in September 2021. 

1.3 The annual review identified that a number of the five original objectives for the 
shared working arrangements were no longer relevant or key to determining the 
success of the service moving forward and a commitment was made to review 
and update these objectives. 

1.4 This report provides Members with details of the new objectives that will be used 
to measure the success and viability of the shared working arrangements as part 
of the next annual review in June/July 2022. It will also provide more details 
around how the delivery of an effective counter fraud service will be measured.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Shared Service Objectives

2.1 The main driver for the shared working arrangements between Gravesham 
Borough Council and Medway Council was the changes to the delivery of fraud 
service brought about from the introduction of the Single Fraud Investigation 
Service (SFIS). Accordingly, the original objectives were set as measures to 
determine whether moving to a shared service had appropriately addressed the 
changes to delivery of counter fraud services and achieved financial savings in 
line with the cuts to government funding.  

2.2 The original service objectives were to:

1 Deliver the statutory internal audit function

2 Deliver an effective counter fraud and investigation service.

3 Provide a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) for the Department for Works and 
Pensions (DWP) for their investigation of Housing Benefit Fraud.

4 Deliver a reduction in the cost of service delivery to mitigate the reduction in 
funding from the DWP as a result of the introduction of the Single Fraud 
Investigation service (SFIS).

5 Provide increased resilience and flexibility to meet the needs of both 
councils.

2.3 Objective 3: Provision of SPOC services now form part of normal business for the 
shared service in line with the service level agreements between each council and 
the DWP. It is not connected to any council objectives and is not linked to the 
success of the shared working arrangements.

2.4 Objective 4: Reductions in service costs equivalent to the reduction in funding 
from DWP were achieved with the move to the shared working arrangements. 
Although the cost of the service has increased annually in line with changes to 
salaries, analysis has been undertaken to apply the same increases to the original 
service budgets prior to the shared service and has shown that the savings are 
still being achieved. 

2.5 Objective 5: Both councils have benefited from increased resilience and flexibility 
as a consequence of the shared working arrangements. Any loss of resource due 
to sickness or post vacancies is shared between the two authorities to limit the 
impact and there are monitoring processes in place to ensure that neither council 
benefits at the expense of the other. The flexibility of the service was also 
demonstrated throughout the pandemic with Internal Audit & Counter Fraud staff 
redeployed to assist critical services, while still being able to deliver a proportion 
of ‘business as usual’ to each council.

2.6 Objectives three to five are not felt to be an effective measure of continuing 
performance in relation to the shared working arrangements and it is therefore 
suggested that these objectives are now removed. Objectives one and two will 
remain as the key measures of the effectiveness of the shared working 
arrangements.

Page 12



3

2.7 The question of what determines the effectiveness of the counter fraud function 
was raised by the Chief Finance Officer at Medway Council as part of the annual 
review process and a commitment was made to conduct research on what 
performance information other council fraud services reported and the provide 
more clarity to this area. 

2.8 After completing this research, it has been determined that there are number of 
factors that attribute to the delivery of an effective counter fraud function, these 
being:

 Total financial savings: The service already reports details of the financial 
savings associated with its work.

 Number of cases investigated: These figures are reported to the Finance & 
Audit Committee but are not reported as part of the annual review.

 Number of sanctions imposed: These figures are reported to the Finance & 
Audit Committee but are not reported as part of the annual review

 Social value and council reputation: Some activity, such as the investigation 
of tenancy fraud, is measured through notional financial savings associated 
with the recovery of council properties but it has social value as those 
properties can be allocated to those in need. Investigation of potentially false 
school admissions (applicable to Medway Council only) does not represent any 
financial saving to the authority but has significant social value and reputational 
value for the council.

 Value for money: While the service has always reported its financial savings, it 
has never formally compared these against its resource costs. In addition, not 
all counter fraud activity can be translated into ‘money in the bank’. It is not 
possible to measure the financial impact of fraud prevention as there is no way 
to measure something that hasn’t happened; however, fraud awareness 
provides value in potentially leading to fraud being reported/identified sooner 
and therefore reducing losses. Pro-active campaigns, while designed to identify 
fraud, can also provide additional assurance in areas where limited cases are 
identified, which can be relied upon by internal audit and allow their resources 
to be used elsewhere.    

2.9 All of these factors will be considered when assessing the performance of the 
shared service against the objective to deliver an effective counter fraud function 
at the next annual review, with relevant information provided to demonstrate the 
performance. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Proposed development of a fully shared Internal Audit and Fraud Service with 
Medway Council” – report to Cabinet – 07 September 2015

 “Working in Partnership Framework – June 2021” – report to Full Council – 22 
June 2021

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 13



IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2011 require a relevant body to “undertake an 
adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of 
internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal 
control.”  Proper practice has been defined as that contained within the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note 
to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.
The Local Government Act 1972 provides the Council with the ability to investigate 
and prosecute offences committed against them.
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the council to “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”.
Finally, the shared service arrangement has been established with due regard to 
Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 
place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of another 
local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2021/22 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Audit and Counter Fraud services is budgeted as £215,980 which is an 
increase in the sum paid in the previous financial year (£208,824 in 2020-21).

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance report has shown that the service is 
meeting and, in some cases, exceeding its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team contributes to the overall internal 
control and governance arrangements of the council, therefore supporting all of the 
objectives set out within the Corporate Plan.
Specifically, the delivery of a shared service contributes to objective #3 – Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report.

Crime and Disorder Internal Audit provides an independent and objective opinion to the organisation on 
the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving the 
organisations’ objectives.  The work of Internal Audit combined with a sound 
internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.
The counter fraud arrangements of the council acknowledge that the council can be 
exposed to fraud and are intended to, as far as possible, prevent fraud occurring 
and pursue criminal action if needed when fraud is detected.  Working with partners 
to combat crime and disorder has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding implications resulting from this report.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance and Administration 

Date: 9 February 2022

Reporting officer: Pat Knight, (Head of Revenues and Benefits)

Subject: Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022-2023

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on the progress made on the review of the existing Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme.

Recommendations:
1. Members note the detailed results of the public consultation process on the proposed 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022-2023 together with the equality impact 
assessment

1. Background

1.1 Section 13A (1) (a) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes that the 
council is required to have a Council Tax Reduction (CTR) scheme.

1.2 Since 2013-2014, the council has had to consider annually whether to revise its 
CTR scheme or to replace it with a replacement scheme. Any revision to the CTR 
scheme or a replacement CTR scheme must be the subject of consultation.

1.3 The CTR scheme consists of two main streams, namely working age claimants 
and pension age claimants. The scheme in respect of working age claimants 
requires Full Council approval at Members’ discretion, whilst the scheme in 
respect of pension age claimants is set on a national basis. Consequently, any 
changes made to the council’s scheme will not affect pension age households.

1.4 The current 2021-2022 council scheme is a ‘means-tested’ scheme with a 
maximum discount of 80% of Council Tax for most working age households and 
100% for pension age households. Eligibility to receive CTR is based on 
demonstration of claimants’ income and capital being below specified limits. Of 
the 43,966 households in the Gravesham area as at 31 December 2021, 6,305 
households are in receipt of CTR (consisting of 3,910 working-age claimants and 
2,395 pension age households). The current  scheme is available from the 
following link: 

Page 17 Agenda Item 6



2

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/319733/Council-Tax-
Reduction-Scheme.pdf

1.5 The current CTR scheme for working age claimants is based on the previous 
Council Tax Benefit scheme (which ended in 2013) which was assessed 
alongside Housing Benefit. However, despite an annual review, the shortcomings 
of the current scheme for claimants are becoming more evident and include:-

 The traditional link between the CTR scheme and Housing Benefit has 
been eroded as any new claims by working age applicants are now 
considered under the Universal Credit scheme, which is administered by 
the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) with a separate application 
for CTR being made to the council.  

 Claimants may be unaware that CTR is separate to Universal Credit 
requiring a separate application with different eligibility criteria. This is 
despite the service working closely with DWP to promote this requirement.

 Claimants have to provide information in support of their separate CTR 
claim despite already having provided similar supporting evidence to DWP 
for their Universal Credit application. This causes confusion and further 
delay to assessing and ultimately applying any entitlement to their council 
tax account.

 Failure to make a separate claim for CTR can result in council tax arrears 
occurring and subsequent recovery action. Any delay in making a CTR 
claim could result in a loss of CTR eligibility as the maximum period to 
backdate is currently one month. This has the potential to increase the 
council tax arrears of the resident and result in them incurring additional 
costs due to court action and enforcement agents engaged to collect any 
debt, and necessitate extended repayment arrangements or support. 

 The impact of Universal Credit on the current CTR scheme has been 
confusing for customers and a source of complaint. The multiple monthly 
changes in Universal Credit inevitably lead to multiple changes in CTR. 
Some of these changes in income could be less than £1.  Each change 
requires the issue of a new council tax bill and an accompanying 
notification letter.

2. Proposed new scheme changes 

2.1 In proposing a new Scheme for working age claimants from 2022-2023, the 
service has considered every potential change to the existing scheme bearing in 
mind the following aims:-

2.1.1 To make the scheme easier for claimants and potential claimants to 
access

2.1.1.1 Any claim for Universal Credit notified to the council through the 
Universal Credit Data Share will automatically be a claim for CTR.  
This will maximise entitlement, speed up processing times and 
reduce the need for backdating. However, any required backdating 
will also be extended from the current one month maximum to 12 
months maximum where circumstances show that the claimant would 
have been eligible for the reduction had they applied at that time. 

Page 18

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/319733/Council-Tax-Reduction-Scheme.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/319733/Council-Tax-Reduction-Scheme.pdf


3

2.1.2 To provide greater stability to those who are in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction whilst making the scheme work better with the Universal 
Credit award system

2.1.2.1 This will be achieved by introducing a simplified income ‘grid’ scheme 
(Table 1) which reflects the household composition for all working 
age applicants with the level of discount based on the total ‘net’ 
weekly income of the applicant and any partner. The exception is 
where any applicant or their partner are in receipt of a ‘Passported 
benefit’ they will receive the maximum discount of 80%. The income 
bands have been modelled based on current Gravesham claimant 
data. 

2.1.2.2 This simplification will reduce the number of changes having to be 
made due to the creations of bands of income (Table 1) i.e. only 
those changes which move the net income to another band would 
have to be considered. This, in turn, will reduce the number of new 
council tax bills and accompanying notification letters claimants 
receive, as these will only be triggered when a claimant moves from 
one band to another.

Table 1 – ‘Grid scheme’ based on household and weekly ‘net income’

Discount 
percent

Single 
Person

Couple Lone 
Parent 

with one 
child 

/young 
person

Lone 
Parent 

with two 
or more 
children 
/young 

persons

Couple 
with one 

child 
/young 
person

Couple 
with two 
or more 
children 
/young 

persons

80%

(Band 1)

‘Passported Benefits’  where any applicant or partner are in receipt of 
Income Support, Income-Based Jobseeker’s or Income Related 

Employment and Support Allowance (and have under £16,000 capital)

80%

(Band 1)

£0 to 
£115

£0 to 
£160

£0 to 
£185

£0 to 
£255

£0 to 
£230

£0 to 
£300

65%

(Band 2)

£115.01 
to £160

£160.01 
to £205

£185.01 
to £230

£255.01 
to £300

£230.01 
to £275

£300.01 
to £345

45%

(Band 3)

£160.01 
to £220

£205.01 
to £265

£230.01 
to £290

£300.01 
to £360

£275.01 
to £335

£345.01 
to £405

25%

(Band 4)

£220.01 
to £280

£265.01 
to £325

£290.01 
to £350

£360.01 
to £420

£335.01 
to £395

£405.01 
to £460

0%

(Band 5)
£280+ £325+ £350+ £420+ £395+ £460+

Page 19



4

2.1.3 Provide additional protection 

2.1.3.1 For all working applicants - Removing the current earnings disregards 
(various levels between £5-£25 per week) and replacing them with a 
standard £25 per week disregard i.e. the first £25 per week of 
earnings will not be counted when the council calculates the weekly 
income.

2.1.3.2 Disability Benefits – Protecting disabled persons by disregarding as 
income any Personal Independence Payments (PIP) or Disability 
Living Allowance (DLA). Additionally, in calculating the net income 
there will be a further disregard of £40 per week from any other 
income where either the applicant, partner or dependant is in receipt 
of the disability benefit.

2.1.3.3 Any Carer’s Allowance and the Support Component of Employment 
and Support Allowance (ESA) will be disregarded when assessing a 
person’s income.

2.1.4 To make the scheme more transparent and easier to understand

2.1.4.1 There are a myriad of complex rules across the various benefit 
schemes including Universal Credit, Housing Benefit and Tax Credits. 
Additionally, there are inconsistencies in these rules, which are 
confusing for claimants to understand. It is proposed to align the new 
CTR scheme with other benefit schemes to ensure consistency for 
claimants. Some of these changes, however, may result in the 
claimant initially receiving less Council Tax Reduction. Consequently, 
the service will proactively identify and seek to protect claimants from 
facing a financial crisis due to these changes. (see item 2.1.5).  

2.1.4.2 In the current CTR scheme, any new claim or change in 
circumstances is effective on a weekly basis. As Council Tax is a 
daily charge, it is fair and equitable to change entitlement to CTR on 
a daily basis. Additionally, the proposed new scheme will reduce the 
number of changes that will affect entitlement.

2.1.4.3 Removal of the Extended Payment provision. This provision allowed 
for a further four weeks payment of Council Tax Reduction scheme 
where an applicant in receipt of specific benefits (such as Income 
Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance or Employment and Support 
Allowance) had moved into work, which would end their entitlement. 
As these existing legacy benefits are effectively being phased out and 
current recipients will be entitled to the maximum 80% discount it is 
felt that these provisions are no longer applicable.

2.1.4.4 From April 2017, the Government changed a number of benefit 
schemes limiting the dependant’s addition (a prescribed assumed 
additional financial need) within the calculation to a maximum of two 
children. The CTR scheme changed at that time with existing 
applicants protected where they had made a claim for support before 
that date and already had more than two dependants. The new 
scheme proposal based on the income grid (Table 1) takes into 
account the number of applicants within the household although it will 
be limited to two dependants for all applicants. However, in 

Page 20



5

calculating the net income all Child Benefit will be disregarded i.e. not 
count towards the applicants’ income for the purpose of CTR.

2.1.4.5 In order to align with other benefits and ensure consistency for 
claimants, the new scheme will use a minimum level of income 
(Minimum Income Floor) for self-employed applicants. It would be in 
line with the National Living wage for 35 hours per week. Should 
income actually be above this level then the actual amount earnt will 
apply in the calculation. The income would not apply for a designated 
start-up period of one year from the start of the business and the 
council would have the discretion to waive this in exceptional 
circumstances. 

2.1.5 Protect claimants from financial crisis

2.1.5.1 It is recognised that whenever there are changes to a CTR scheme, 
within the same cost envelope, there will be some claimants who will 
be adversely affected. It is a legal requirement that the Council 
operates a financial support scheme  for those residents who have 
moved into financial crisis. The service is experienced in operating 
such schemes. Consequently, the service will continue to operate 
such a scheme but also will utilise new technology such as the Low 
Income Family Tracker to proactively identify, engage with and 
ultimately assist and support those Gravesham residents who are 
vulnerable and/or in financial crisis due to these changes.

2.2 On 4 October 2021, Cabinet noted 

2.2.1 The work undertaken on the review of the current CTR scheme and the 
proposed changes for the 2022-2023 scheme. 

2.2.2 Agreed to proceed with a public consultation with a view to changing the 
CTR scheme from April 2022 as set out in Section Two of the report 
presented to them.

2.2.3 Agreed to proceed with the draft consultation document and delegated 
authority  to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with the 
Leader of the   Executive and Portfolio Holder for Performance & 
Administration to finalise the consultation documents.

2.3 On 14 October 2021, the report was scrutinised by the Overview and Scrutiny 
committee. The committee resolved to note the report and draft consultation 
document. A number of helpful comments were made which further enhanced the 
final consultation document and consultation process

2.4 On 31 January 2022 Cabinet :-

2.4.1 Considered the proposed changes to the Council Tax Reduction     
scheme 2022-2023, taking into account the results of the public 
consultation and the latest equality impact assessment.

2.4.2 Recommended the proposed scheme to Full Council, to take effect from 1 
April 2022.

Page 21



6

3. Consultation Process

3.1 The consultation document was finalised in accordance with item 1.7.3 (Appendix 
2). 

3.2 Consultation took place between 22 October 2021 and 24 December 2021 (9 
weeks). 

3.3 There is an obligation for the council to consult with major precepting bodies prior 
to a public consultation. This was undertaken on 6 October 2021 with the 
representatives of the major preceptors being supportive of the way forward and 
options considered for public consultation.

3.4 The consultation document went online on 22 October 2021 utilising a secure 
hosted serve with Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.1 standard for 
accessibility. It was recognised that access to computers, smartphones and the 
internet combined with the potential for respondents to lack digital skills could 
affect the ability of some claimants and residents to provide a response. 
Consequently, the service wrote (Appendix 3) to all 6,477 CTR claimants at that 
time (4,028 working age claimant and 2,449 pension age claimants) together with 
a randomly sampled 5,000 residents (non-claimants). 

3.5 Customer Services officers and Revenues & Benefits staff were briefed to 
promote the consultation; encourage responses from residents and to assist them 
where they needed assistance in completing the consultation document.

3.6 The council worked with the Communications team in order to ensure that there 
was an effective campaign across the council’s social media channels. In the first 
week, a message including a video was tweeted on the council’s Twitter account 
and placed on Facebook. Additionally an article was placed in the winter edition of 
Your Borough explaining the consultation was taking place and how to take part. 
The council has nearly 4,700 followers on Twitter and over 11,000 followers on 
Facebook and Your Borough is circulated to 44,000 households. The message 
was re-posted a number of times throughout the consultation.

3.7 Council employees were informed of the consultation via publication in Our 
Borough and included in one of the Chief Executives weekly Management Team 
updates issued via email and text messaging.

3.8 The consultation was promoted in the Members’ Bulletin. Additionally all Members 
were emailed requesting that they bring the consultation to the attention of 
residents and relevant groups/organisations. Members were also asked to raise 
with the service any queries they may have.

3.9 The service liaised with the Community Involvement Officer and contacted 31 third 
sector organisations who were invited to a virtual meeting, which was held on 8 
December 2021. Where any organisation was unable to attend they were 
encouraged to contact the service in order to make other arrangements.

4. Results of consultation

4.1 In total, there were 537 responses to the consultation. This is a good response 
bearing in mind the length of the document due to the legal requirement to provide 
sufficient information to enable an informed decision. The previous consultation on 
the CTR scheme for 2017/2018 saw 387 responses i.e. latest consultation has 
seen a 39 per cent increase. This also compares favourably with other local 

Page 22



7

authorities such as Ashford Borough Council who received 88 responses and 
Dartford Borough Council who received 35 responses to similar consultations. 

4.2 The number of results allows for a high degree of confidence that we have a 
representative and balanced view from residents. Key indicators include :-

 99.45% of respondents living in Gravesham

 79.12% of respondents in receipt of council tax reduction 

 33.52% of respondents (or their partner) in work or self-employed

 88.33% of respondents liable to pay council tax

4.4 The results of the consultation have also shown an improvement on the 
representation of specific ethnic groups including those who have stated their 
ethnic origin is Indian, Other Asian, African, Caribbean, Other Black and Arab 
when compared to the previous consultation in 2017. 

4.5 Headline results were :-

 Whilst in answering Question 2, 41.47% of respondents wished to retain 
the current council tax scheme (23.75% said no with 34.78% stating they 
did not know) this changed significantly once the respondents considered 
the Income Grid scheme under Question 4 which then saw 57.20% 
agreeing with its introduction (11.52% stated no with remaining 31.28% 
stating they did not know).

•     All 9 proposed changes saw the majority saying they agreed with the 
     proposed changes

o Those in agreement for each proposed change ranged from 
57.14% to 82.84%

o Disagreement with each proposal was in the range of 3.92% to 
12.07%

o “Don’t know” response with each proposal was in the range of 
13.24% to 31.28%

4.6 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed based on the results of the 
consultation (Appendix 4). It is recognised that there is a risk to claimants finding 
themselves with lower CTR. In order to mitigate this risk it is the service intention 
to use financial support funds to assist . The service will proactively work to 
identify those cases, which have been adversely affected due to the proposed 
changes. The service will identify those cases by utilising both the modelling tool 
and the Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) system.

4.7 Results to all questions are shown in Appendix 5. The result of each proposed 
change has been linked to the particular aims (see item 2.1).  In addition, there 
are also details of comments by trend as not all responses related to the proposed 
scheme change per se. Some respondents also gave personal details or 
circumstances.

Page 23



8

5.    Finance

5.1 Government initially provided funding for the scheme in 2013. However, the 
funding has reduced each year in line with the reduction in Revenue Support 
Grant provided to councils.

5.2 The aim for the 2022-23 scheme is to remain cost neutral when compared 
(based on the current caseload) to the current estimate expenditure of 
£6,904,000 for the 2021-2022 scheme. Gravesham Borough Council would bear 
11% or £760,000 of this cost with the remainder incurred by major preceptors 
i.e., Kent County Council, Kent Police & Crime Commissioner and Kent Fire and 
Rescue authority.

6. Background Papers

7.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 24



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal Section 13A (1)(a) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes that the 
council is required to have a Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS). This is a 
discount for Council Tax based on the income of the household. 

Legal Services have advised that the Council is legally permitted to make the 
proposed changes, subject to carrying out an appropriate consultation. The 9 week 
period for the consultation has been assessed as a reasonable period of time for 
the consultation process.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The proposed scheme changes have been modelled in detail in order to ensure 
that the changes do not exceed the cost of the existing council tax reduction 
scheme. 

Risk Assessment There is a financial risk that forecast costs of the new scheme are beyond those of 
the existing scheme.  Detailed modelling has been conducted to help mitigate this 
risk based on current caseloads
There is a risk of a negative effect on council tax collection within the relevant 
financial year leading to delays in collecting the following year’s liability. This will be 
mitigated by a proposed reduction in number of changes required to be actioned 
reducing number of revised bills issued, Consequently, there will be a quicker, and 
more efficient recovery process combined with ensuring that any appropriate 
discounts, financial support funding are applied to support the claimant.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

      N?A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes.   A full Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken. There may be a 

detrimental financial impact on some residents near the bottom of an 
‘income’ band meaning that changes move them into a lower discount 
bracket. However, the council will proactively identify and financially 
support claimants where seen that they are moving into financial crisis. In 
order to mitigate any adverse financial affect to a claimant. 

Page 25

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


10

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People – Put our customers first 
Implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report

Digital and website 
implications

The service will work with both the digital and communications teams to ensure that 
the consultation is widely publicised and hosted appropriately. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding implications resulting from this report

Page 26



Appendix 2

1

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2022/23 Consultation
1. Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 Consultation 
For some people on low income, paying their council tax is a challenge.

If you receive a DWP Benefit such as Universal Credit, Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance, Tax 
Credits or you are in receipt of a low income you can apply to get help from our Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme, which, as the name suggests, means you do not have to pay your full council tax bill. However, 
the scheme is complicated, can be difficult to understand and is time consuming for applicants.

We want to make changes to our scheme to make it simpler, easier to understand and fairer for all, and 
we need your views on what we are planning to do. However, Pension age households will not be 
affected as Central Government prescribe their scheme.

This is not about the council cutting costs – the amount of money available to help people meet their 
council tax bills remains the same, we are just proposing to distribute it in a different way.

In the vast majority of cases, people will see no difference in the amount of support they receive, or may 
even receive an increase.

But there will be some people who will not get the same amount of financial support from the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme as they do now. However, we will know who those people are and we will support 
them to ensure they do not fall into financial difficulties.

It’s really important that as many of you as possible take part in our consultation and make your views 
known to us. It runs until midnight on 24th December 2021

This form may be completed on your behalf by a family member, friend or by any person or organisation 
which supports you. However, should you still like help in completing the form, contact us 
via ctr@gravesham.gov.uk or telephone 01474 337710 and we will help you through the process.

If you’d like to read more detailed background information about the current Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme please visit www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-tax-reduction/overview
 

2. Background to the Consultation 
What is this consultation about?
Each year the Borough Council must decide whether to change the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
working age applicants in its area. This year the Council has decided that changes should be made to 
significantly change the Council Tax Reduction Scheme to: 

Make the scheme easier for residents to understand and access.

Page 27

mailto:ctr@gravesham.gov.uk
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-tax-reduction/overview


Appendix 2

2

Provide greater stability to those who are in receipt of support.

Make the scheme work better with the Universal Credit award system.

Build in capacity to better manage increase in demand and to create operational efficiencies to help 
assist the claimant.

                                                                                                          
What is Council Tax Reduction?
Council Tax Reduction is a discount for Council Tax. The level of discount is based on the income of the 
household. Currently the maximum discount is 80% of Council Tax for working age households and 
100% for pensioners.
 
Why is a change to the Council Tax Reduction scheme being considered?
In April 2013 the Council Tax Benefit Scheme was replaced by a new Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
Council Tax Benefit had been funded by the Department for Work 
and Pensions and supported people on low incomes by reducing the amount of Council Tax they have to 
pay.
 
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme is determined locally by ourselves rather than the Department for 
Work and Pensions. Although the Government initially provided funding for the scheme, the 
funding has reduced each year in line with the reduction in Revenue Support Grant provided to councils.  
 
Applicants in receipt of Income-Based Jobseekers Allowance, Income Support and Income-Related 
Employment and Support Allowance receive the maximum level of reduction. Others receive an amount 
of Council Tax Reduction based on a number of factors including the make-up of the household, income 
and disability. 
 
A separate Government scheme handles reductions for people of pension age. Councils are only able 
to vary our schemes for people of working age.
 
Each council is required to review its scheme each year and decide if they want to make any 
changes. But before any changes can be made, they must be subject to a public consultation.
 
We are proposing a number of changes to our existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme and, in line with 
the legislation, we want to provide you with the opportunity to tell us your views on those 
proposed updates.
 
We are consulting on the following changes to our scheme for 2022/23: 

We would like to introduce an income ‘grid’ for all working age applicants. This will replace the current 
scheme which was based on the previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme, and will provide up to 80% 
support in certain cases. (Part 1);
 

We want to remove the transitional protection awarded to certain pre-2017 claims. (Part 2);
 

Page 28



Appendix 2

3

We would like to change the way your earnings are taken into consideration when we calculate how 
much support you will receive. We want to make it that the first £25 you earn does not count towards 
your Council Tax discount calculation. (Part 3);
 

We are proposing to remove the Extended Payment provision. (Part 4);
 

We want to make it so all new claims and any changes to claims because of a change in your 
circumstances happen from the day of the change in line with the discount schemes. At the moment 
these changes are made on a weekly basis. (Part 5);
 

We would like to be able to backdate any discount for up to 12 months where a good reason 
is given. (Part 6);
 

We want to introduce additional protection for disabled claimants by ignoring their Personal 
Independence Payments or Disability Living Allowance when we calculate their discount. We also won’t 
take into account further income of up to £40 a week where either the applicant, their partner or a 
dependant is in receipt of the disability benefit. (Part 7);
 

We are proposing that Carer’s Allowance and the Support Component for those applicants in receipt of 
Employment and Support Allowance are not included in the calculation of your reduction. (Part 8);
 

We want to introduce a Minimum Income Floor for self-employed applicants. (Part 9);

Some parts of our existing scheme will be included in the new scheme, including:  

the capital limit will remain at £16,000 per claim;

a 'flat-rate' charge of £10 per week shall be deducted from any reduction for each non-dependant within 
the household;

the housing element of Universal Credit will not be considered as part of the calculation of your 
reduction; and

Page 29



Appendix 2

4

If you receive a war pension or a war disablement pension, we will not include that income when we 
calculate your reduction.

By making sure our scheme protects the financially vulnerable, we are likely to reduce spending in other 
areas where we support those on low incomes, making a significant contribution to the health and 
wellbeing of Gravesham residents.

What are the drawbacks of doing this? 

If our proposed changes go ahead, the majority of people won’t see any change in the amount of Council 
Tax Reduction support they receive. There may be some people who find their reduction increases, while 
in a very small number of cases, some may see a decrease in support from the scheme; and

Some higher income households may receive less support.

In Gravesham, around 6,477 people receive Council Tax Reduction support. 
The cost of the scheme is £6,904,000 which is spread across ourselves (11%), Kent County Council (74%), 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service (4%) and Kent Police (11%) in accordance with the amount of Council Tax 
which each organisation levies (which is shown in brackets).

Who will this affect?
Working age households in the Borough who currently receive or will apply for Council Tax Reduction.

Pension age households will not be affected as Central Government look after their scheme.

Are there any alternatives to changing the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme? 
We have thought about other options, including carrying on with the current scheme. While these have 
not been completely rejected and you are asked about them in the questionnaire, we do not think we 
should implement them for the reasons given below.
 
We have considered: 

  Continuing with the current scheme
This would mean less support for certain households and higher administration costs generally. 

Not making the proposed changes would significantly increase the administration of Council Tax 
Reduction. 

The current scheme does not work effectively with the Government’s Universal Credit system. The 
multiple changes in Universal Credit inevitably lead to multiple changes in Council Tax Reduction which 
creates uncertainty and confusion for claimants and can have an impact on the collection of the tax. 

This would increase the costs for all Council Taxpayers in the area paying towards the scheme. The 
decision to increase Council Tax may need to be made by voting in a local referendum.
 

Page 30



Appendix 2

5

Another option could be to reduce funding to other council services to pay for additional 
administration costs
Keeping the current Council Tax Reduction scheme will mean an increase in administration costs and 
less money available to deliver other council services.

 

1. I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction Scheme:
This question must be answered before you can continue. *

  
Yes

  
No

3. Paying for the Scheme 
 

2. Should the council keep the current Council Tax Reduction scheme? (Should it continue to 
administer the scheme as it does at the moment?) *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

3. Please use the space below to make any comments you have on protecting the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme from these changes. 

4. Part 1 – The introduction of an Income Grid scheme to 
replace the current scheme for all applicants of working 
age 
As explained in the background information, we are primarily consulting on the following proposals to 
change the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme from 1st April 2022, which may increase the overall 
level of support to those households on the lowest income and reduce the administration cost of the 
scheme generally. The changes will also make the scheme simpler.

Please note that while the changes are intended to reduce the level and cost of administration, we are 
not looking to reduce the total overall level of support available. In fact, for the lowest income 
households, the changes may increase the amount of support provided. 

Your responses are a part of this consultation. 
  
The current scheme for Council Tax Reduction is largely based on the previous Council Tax Benefit 
scheme which was assessed alongside Housing Benefit. Housing Benefit for working age applicants is 
being phased out and it is not now possible to make new claims.

Page 31



Appendix 2

6

All the time Housing Benefit was the main provider of housing support for those of working age, it was 
logical to maintain a Council Tax Reduction Scheme that mirrored the approach. 

With the roll out of Universal Credit, it gives us the opportunity to simplify what is effectively a Council 
Tax discount.
 
We are proposing that a simplified income ‘grid’ scheme will be introduced. 

Table 1 shows the level of discount available. 
 
 Table 1 
  

Band Discount
Single 
Person

Couple

Lone 
Parent

with one 
child 

Lone 
Parent

with two
or more 
children

Couple
with one 

child 

Couple
with two
or more 
children

1* 80% £0 to £115 £0 to £160 £0 to £185 £0 to £255 £0 to £230 £0 to £300

2 65%
£115.01 to 

£160
£160.01 to 

£205 
£185.01 to 

£230
£255.01 to 

£300
£230.01 to 

£275
£300.01 to 

£345

3 45%
£160.01 to 

£220
£205.01 to 

£265
£230.01 to 

£290
£300.01 to 

£360
£275.01 to 

£335
£345.01 to 

£405

4 25%
£220.01 to 

£280
£265.01 to 

£325
£290.01 to 

£350
£360.01 to 

£420
£335.01 to 

£395
£405.01 to 

£460
5 0% £280+ £325+ £350+ £420+ £395+ £460+

 *Where any applicant or their partner are in receipt of Income Support, Income-Based Jobseeker’s 
Allowance or Income-Related Employment and Support Allowance, a Band 1 discount will be given.
 
The key principles of the scheme are as follows:  

The level of discount (shown in the grid) will be based on the total net income (as determined by the 
council) of the applicant and their partner;

Income levels can vary in accordance with household size;

The maximum support available will remain at 80%;

Certain aspects of the current scheme will be carried forward into the new scheme, namely Disability 
Living Allowance, Personal Independence Payments and Child Benefit will continue to be ignored when 
we calculate your discount;

Child Maintenance will also be ignored during the calculation;

Applicants receiving Income Support, Income-Related Employment and Support Allowance and Income-
Based Jobseeker’s Allowance will receive a Band 1 discount. Where applicants are not in receipt of those 

Page 32



Appendix 2

7

benefits and their income is above the levels specified in Band 1, Council Tax Reduction will be awarded 
at the appropriate level (Bands 2, 3, 4 & 5); 

Removing the transitional protection awarded to certain pre-2017 claims (see Part 2);

Removing the different amounts of current earnings we ignore when calculating your reduction and 
simply ignoring the first £25 of all applicants earnings where they are in work (see Part 3);

Removing the Extended Payment provision (see Part 4);

Making all new claims and changes in circumstances which change any entitlement to Council Tax 
Reduction on a daily basis rather than the current (benefit based) weekly basis (see Part 5);

Allowing the discretion to backdate any discount up to 12 months where a good reason is provided (see 
Part 6);

Protecting the disabled by not including income from Personal Independence Payments or Disability 
Living Allowance when calculating the amount of reduction to be awarded, and ignoring the first £40 of 
income  per week where either the applicant, partner or dependant is in receipt of disability benefit (see 
Part 7);

Protecting carers by not including any Carer’s Allowance and the support component for those 
applicants in receipt of Employment and Support Allowance in the calculation (see Part 8);

Introducing a Minimum Income Floor for self-employed applicants (see Part 9);

If our proposed changes go ahead, most applicants will receive the same support next year. Inevitably 
some households will have a little more to pay. Where an applicant experiences exceptional financial 
difficulties, they will be able to apply for additional support from our Exceptional Hardship Fund.
  
The benefits of changing the scheme:

It provides more targeted support to those on the lowest incomes;

It provides a simpler scheme, easily understood by all applicants;

It will save significant increases in administration costs due to the introduction of Universal Credit; and

Page 33



Appendix 2

8

It should provide greater stability to Council Tax Reduction recipients by reducing the number of Council 
Tax demands during the year which prevents multiple changes to monthly instalments.

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

Whilst we will look to protect Council Tax Reduction recipients as far as possible, some higher income 
households may receive less support.

 

4. Do you agree with the changes to the scheme to introduce an income-based banded discount 
scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

5. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

5. Part 2 - Removing the transitional protection awarded 
to certain pre-2017 claims 
Historically, benefit claimants who had children were awarded what is known as a dependant’s addition 
per child when calculating the amounts that the Government considered certain categories of people 
needed to live on each week. This is known as the ‘applicable amount’.
 
However, since April 2017 Central Government has restricted dependant additions in Universal Credit, 
Housing Benefit and Tax Credits, to a maximum of two.
 
Consequently, the Council Tax Reduction Scheme also changed from April 2017 so that any new claims 
would only have a dependant addition for the first two children.

It also sought to protect existing claimants through a ‘transitional protection’ where households 
who already had three or more children as at 1 April 2017 by continuing to award a dependant’s addition 
for every child in the household as at that date.
 
Therefore, there will no longer be a dependant’s addition nor transitional protection as the new scheme 
is based on an income grid categorised by households with no children; one child; or two or more 
children.
 
Child Benefit continues to be paid for every dependant and this will not count towards the applicant’s 
income for the purposes of calculating Council Tax Reduction.
 
The benefits to the Council of doing this are: 

Page 34



Appendix 2

9

Council Tax Reduction will be brought into line with the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP) benefits; and

It is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme. 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

Applicants who have three or more dependant children may receive less Council Tax Reduction. 
However, this is offset by the Child Benefit not being counted and, if the applicants face financial 
difficulties they may apply for additional support through our Exceptional Hardship Scheme.

 

6. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

7. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

6. Part 3 – Removing the current level of earnings we do 
not count when calculating a Council Tax Reduction and 
instead not counting the first £25 per week earned by all 
working applicants 
Currently, where applicants (or their partner if they have one) have earnings and work more than 16 
hours per week, what is known as an earnings disregard is applied depending on their individual 
circumstances. This is the amount of money they can earn before we start taking their earnings into 
consideration in or calculations.

These are £5 per week for a single person, £10 per week for a couple, £20 per week if they meet certain 
conditions such as disablement or part time special employments, or £25 per week for lone parents. If 
they work additional hours, in some circumstances they may receive an additional buffer of £17.10 per 
week. Also, if child care is paid by the applicant above that received free from Central Government, then 
that too can be taken into consideration in our calculations.
 
Our proposed change to the scheme would introduce a standard, single figure of £25 per week for each 
applicant in work. This will apply against earnings only.
 
The benefits of this are: 

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme; and

Page 35



Appendix 2

10

It makes the scheme easier to understand for Council Tax Reduction applicants and recipients. 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

There may be applicants with larger families and who have high child care costs that are not met by 
Government schemes who may see a reduction in support.

It should be noted that this is offset by the Child Benefit not being counted and that all applicants that 
face financial difficulties may apply for additional support under our Exceptional Hardship Scheme.

 

8. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

9. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

7. Part 4 – Removing the Extended Payment provision 
In certain cases, where applicants have received benefits such as Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance 
or Employment and Support Allowance and move into work which ends their entitlement to that 
support, Council Tax Reduction can be paid for an additional 4 weeks after starting work or increasing 
their hours. 

Similar provisions do not exist for Universal Credit claimants. As Universal Credit is to replace 
those  benefits referred to in above paragraph, we feel that these provisions are no longer appropriate.
 
The benefit of this Part is: 

It will treat all applicants in receipt of DWP benefits equally; and

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme. 
 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

Applicants who are still in receipt of Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance or Employment and Support 
Allowance and who move into work before being transferred to Universal Credit may lose any potential 
extended payment.

 

10. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

Page 36



Appendix 2

11

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

11. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

8. Part 5 – Any new claim or change in circumstances 
which changes Council Tax Reduction entitlement will be 
made from the date on which the change occurs, rather 
than on a weekly basis as at present 
New claims and changes in circumstances that affect entitlement to Council Tax Reduction, under the 
current scheme, are largely effected on a weekly basis. This is a throwback to previous benefit schemes 
that were weekly based. 

As Council Tax is a daily charge, we believe it makes more sense to change entitlement to Council Tax 
Reduction on a daily basis. 

It should be noted that the proposed new scheme is designed to reduce the number of changes that will 
affect entitlement in any event.
 
The benefit of this Part is: 

It is in line with the way that Council Tax is charged and operated; and

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme. 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

There are no draw backs to this Part.

 

12. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

Page 37



Appendix 2

12

13. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

9. Part 6 – Extending the ‘backdating’ provisions within 
the scheme 
The current scheme limits the backdating of any application for Council Tax Reduction to one month 
before the date of application where continuous 'Good Cause’ is proven.
 
We believe backdating of applications of up to 12 months would allow for better alignment with the date 
that the applicant's circumstances changed and that we should be given a general discretion to backdate 
any claim where a good reason is provided.
 
The benefit of this Part is: 

This Part will allow us more flexibility in granting support where the applicant has a good reason for not 
claiming earlier; and

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme. 
 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

There are no drawbacks to this change. It is unlikely to increase the costs of the scheme significantly.

 

14. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

15. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

10. Part 7 – Protecting disabled persons by ignoring 
Personal Independence Payments or Disability Living 
Allowance and ignoring a further £40 of income per week 
where the applicant, partner or dependant is in receipt of 
disability benefit 
By moving to an income-based grid scheme it is essential that certain benefits are ignored when we 
calculate a claimant’s income. 

In order to protect the most vulnerable applicants, we are proposing that Personal Independence 

Page 38



Appendix 2

13

Payments and Disability Living Allowance are not counted when assessing a person’s income. 

In addition, where either the applicant, their partner or any dependant is in receipt of any of those 
benefits, a further £40 of income per week from them will not be used in the calculation of support.

The benefit of this Part is: 

It will assist and support the most vulnerable; and

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme. 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

There are no drawbacks to this change as it will continue to protect persons with a disability. It is unlikely 
to increase the costs of the scheme significantly.

 

16. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

17. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

11. Part 8 – Ignoring Carer's Allowance and the Support 
Component of the Employment and Support Allowance 
By moving to an income-based grid scheme it is essential that certain benefits are not included in the 
calculation of income. In order to protect the most vulnerable applicants, it is proposed that Carer’s 
Allowance and the Support Component of Employment and Support Allowance are not counted when 
assessing a person’s income

The benefit of this Part is: 

It will assist and support the most vulnerable and it will potentially increase the support to carers: and

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme 

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

There may be a slight increase in the overall cost of the scheme

Page 39



Appendix 2

14

 

18. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

19. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

12. Part 9 – Introducing a Minimum Income Floor for 
certain self-employed applicants 
In order to align Council Tax Reduction with Universal Credit, we are proposing to use a minimum level 
of income for those applicants who are self-employed. This would be in line with the National Living 
Wage for 35 hours worked per week. 

Any income above this amount would be taken into account based on the actual amount earned. 

The income would not apply for a designated start-up period of one year from the start of the 
business and we would have the discretion to waive the use of this facility in exceptional circumstances.
 
The benefit of this Part is: 

The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the scheme; and

The treatment of income for self-employed claimants for Council Tax Reduction will be brought broadly 
into line with those applicants who are self-employed and who are in receipt of Universal Credit (where 
the scheme is already in place).

The drawbacks of doing this are: 

Where a working age applicant is self-employed and continues to run a business where their income is 
below the National Living Wage level, we will assume they earn at least the minimum level (based on a 
35-hour week, regardless of the hours they work).

 

20. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

Page 40



Appendix 2

15

 

21. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose? 

13. Alternatives to changing the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 
If we keep the current scheme, it will be less supportive to low-income households and administratively 
more complex. The proposals set out in this consultation will deliver more targeted support and 
administration savings. 
 
Do you think we should choose any of the following options rather than the proposed changes to the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme? 

Please select one answer for each source of funding.

 
 

22. Increase the level of Council Tax to cover the rising administration costs. *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

23. Find the additional administration costs by cutting other council services. *

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't Know

 

24. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme. 

 

25. Please use the space below if you would like the council to consider any other options (please 
state). 

 

26. If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme that you haven't had opportunity to raise elsewhere, please use the space below. 

Page 41



Appendix 2

16

14. About You 
We collect this information to help us understand the communities that we serve so that services and 
policies can be delivered to meet the needs of everybody.

Please feel free to leave questions that you do not wish to answer. 

All of the information gathered in this questionnaire is confidential and anonymous.

Your personal information will not be passed on to anyone and your personal details will not be reported 
alongside your responses.
 
 

27. Are you completing this form on behalf of an organisation or group? 

  
Yes

  
No

 

If yes, please tell us the name of the organisation/group and add any other comments you wish to 
make.

15. Questions for Individuals 
Please answer the following questions.
 

28. Do you live in Gravesham? 

  
Yes

  
No

 

29. Are you currently receiving Council Tax Reduction? 

  
Yes

  
No

 

30. Are you or your partner in work or self-employed? 

  
Yes

  
No

 

Page 42



Appendix 2

17

31. Are you liable to pay Council Tax? 

  
Yes

  
No

 

32. Do you have more than two or more pre-school or school age children in your household?

  
Yes

  
No

 

33. Are you currently serving in the Armed Forces? 

  
Yes

  
No

 

34. Which gender do you identify with?

  
Male

  
Female

  
Prefer not to say

  
Other (please specify):

 

35. What is your age? 

  
18-24

  
25-34

  
35-44

  
45-54

  
55-64

  
65-74

  
75-84

Page 43



Appendix 2

18

  
85+

  
Prefer not to say

 

36. Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which 
has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? 

  
Yes

  
No

  
Don't know

  
Prefer not to say

 

37. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?

  
Prefer not to say

  
White British

  
White Irish

  
White Gypsy or Irish Traveller

  
Any other White background

  
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups - White & Black African

  
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups - White & Black Caribbean

  
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups - White & Asian

  
Any other multi mixed background

  
Asian or Asian British Pakistani

  
Asian or Asian British Indian

  
Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi

  
Asian or Asian British Chinese

  
Any other Asian background

  
Black African

Page 44



Appendix 2

19

  
British Caribbean

  
Black British

  
Any other Black background

 

38. Other ethnic group? 

16. Next steps.... 
Thank you for completing the questionnaire.
 
You may submit further evidence, ideas, comments or questions (marked CTR consultation) by email to 
ctr@gravesham.gov.uk
 
The consultation closes at midnight 24th December 2021
 
We will listen carefully to what you tell us and take the responses into consideration when making a final 
decision on the 2022/23 scheme.
 
Following the decision, the full results from the consultation will be available on the Council's website.
 
The new scheme will start on 1st  April 2022. 

We will consider the impact of the scheme annually and consult again if we think further changes need 
to be made.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

Switchboard 01474 56 44 22
Minicom 01474 33 76 17
Website www.gravesham.gov.uk

Gravesham Borough Council, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent DA12 1AU

Revenues and Benefits
Ask for:  Benefits
Telephone: (01474) 33 77 10
Email: hbcustomer.services@gravesham.gov.uk
My ref 
Your ref: 
Date: 

Dear [Claimant]

Re: Changing our council tax reduction scheme 

We have sent this important letter because we are currently revising our council tax reduction 
scheme, which is set to change from 1 April 2022 for the financial year 2022-2023 and you 
currently receive council tax support.  Please read it carefully as we need you to: 

 Understand the proposed changes to the scheme 
 Tell us what your views are about the proposed changes 

Background 

For some people on low income, paying their council tax is a challenge.

If you receive a DWP Benefit such as Universal Credit, Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance,
Tax Credits or you are in receipt of a low income you can apply to get help from our Council Tax
Reduction Scheme, which, as the name suggests, means you do not have to pay your full
council tax bill. However, the scheme is complicated, can be difficult to understand and is time
consuming for applicants.

We want to make changes to our scheme to make it simpler, easier to understand and fairer for
all, and we need your views on what we are planning to do. However, Pension age households
will not be affected as Central Government prescribe their scheme.

This is not about the council cutting costs – the amount of money available to help people meet
their council tax bills remains the same, we are just proposing to distribute it in a different way.

In the vast majority of cases, people will see no difference in the amount of support they
receive, or may even receive an increase.

But there will be some people who will not get the same amount of financial support from the
Council Tax Reduction Scheme as they do now. However, we will know who those people are
and we will support them to ensure they do not fall into financial difficulties.

It’s really important that as many of you as possible take part in our consultation and make your

Page 47



views known to us. 

What is the next step? 

The consultation runs until midnight on 24th December 2021. You can access the consultation via 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/ctr-consultation

This form may be completed on your behalf by a family member, friend or by any person or
organisation which supports you. However, should you still like help in completing the form or if you 
are unable to complete the survey online and would like a hard copy sent to you please contact us 
via ctr@gravesham.gov.uk or telephone 01474 337710 and we will help you through
the process.

If you’d like to read more detailed background information about the current Council Tax
Reduction Scheme please visit www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-taxreduction/
overview

Your comments will help us ensure that our local scheme for the financial year 2022-2023 remains 
fair, incentivises returning to work and offers support for those in Gravesham who need it the most. 

Yours sincerely, 

Head of Revenues and Benefits

Page 48

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/ctr-consultation


Revenues and Benefits
Ask for:  Benefits
Telephone: (01474) 33 77 10
Email: hbcustomer.services@gravesham.gov.uk
My ref 
Your ref: 
Date: 

Dear [Resident]

Re: Changing our council tax reduction scheme 
 
We have sent this important letter because we are currently revising our council tax reduction 
scheme, which is set to change from 1 April 2022 for the financial year 2022-2023.

We are consulting with all the affected claimants of council tax reduction and have written to them 
directly.  However, we need to ensure that we represent the views of those taxpayers who do not 
currently receive council tax reduction but may need to in the future should their financial 
circumstances change.  It is important that we receive a broad range of views from differing 
perspectives.

Background 

For some people on low income, paying their council tax is a challenge.

If you receive a DWP Benefit such as Universal Credit, Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance,
Tax Credits or you are in receipt of a low income you can apply to get help from our Council Tax
Reduction Scheme, which, as the name suggests, means you do not have to pay your full
council tax bill. However, the scheme is complicated, can be difficult to understand and is time
consuming for applicants.

We want to make changes to our scheme to make it simpler, easier to understand and fairer for
all, and we need your views on what we are planning to do. However, Pension age households
will not be affected as Central Government prescribe their scheme.

This is not about the council cutting costs – the amount of money available to help people meet
their council tax bills remains the same, we are just proposing to distribute it in a different way.

In the vast majority of cases, people will see no difference in the amount of support they
receive, or may even receive an increase.

But there will be some people who will not get the same amount of financial support from the
Council Tax Reduction Scheme as they do now. However, we will know who those people are
and we will support them to ensure they do not fall into financial difficulties.

It’s really important that as many of you as possible take part in our consultation and make your
views known to us. 

What is the next step? 

Page 49



The consultation runs until midnight on 24th December 2021. You can access the consultation via 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/ctr-consultation

This form may be completed on your behalf by a family member, friend or by any person or
organisation which supports you. However, should you still like help in completing the form or if you 
are unable to complete the survey online and would like a hard copy sent to you please contact us 
via ctr@gravesham.gov.uk or telephone 01474 337710 and we will help you through
the process.

If you’d like to read more detailed background information about the current Council Tax
Reduction Scheme please visit www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-taxreduction/
overview

Your comments will help us ensure that our local scheme for the financial year 2022-2023 remains 
fair, incentivises returning to work and offers support for those in Gravesham who need it the most. 

Yours sincerely, 

Head of Revenues and Benefits

Page 50

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/ctr-consultation


Appendix 4

Equality Assessment Record

Title of Service, Policy, Procedure, Spending Review being Proposed
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Name of Service Area
Revenues and Benefits

Name of Officer completing this assessment
Jackie Baker

Date Assessment Started
05/01/2022

Name of Decision Maker (in relation to the change)
Pat Knight

Date Decision Made
12/01/2022

Overview 

Provide a clear overview of the aims of the service/policy/procedure and the proposed changes being made. Will the current 
service users’ needs continue to be met? Why is the change being proposed? What needs or duties is it designed to meet?

The Council Tax Reduction scheme has been in place since 1 April 2013. The Council has had to consider annually whether to 
revise its Council Tax Reduction scheme or to replace it with a replacement scheme. A review of the scheme did take place in 
2017.

The Council is now looking to review the scheme further in order to introduce a simplified Council Tax Reduction scheme with 
effect from 1st April 2022 and to increase the level of support to the poorest households.

P
age 51



In addition, the implementation of Universal Credit within the area requires the Council to change its approach to Council Tax 
Reduction, given the high administrative burden of monthly changes and alterations to applicants’ income.

There is a requirement to introduce a simplified, more supportive scheme which can be easily administered without significant 
additional costs being placed on the Council. The current scheme is too reactive to minor changes in applicant’s income leading 
to constant changes in Council Tax liability.

The Council Tax Reduction scheme consists of two main streams namely working age claimants and pension age claimants. The 
scheme changes will only apply to working age applicants, pension age applicants are covered by the Prescribed Requirement 
Regulations determined by Central Government and will not be affected by these changes.

The move to an income-based scheme (without the complexities of a full means test as required by the current scheme).

The changes will provide the following:
 Simplified claiming arrangements for all working age applicants;
 Certainty, at present, multiple changes are leading to some taxpayer’s receiving a large number of Council Tax bills per 

year as their Council Tax Reduction is constantly amended;
 The maximisation of applicant’s entitlement with clear straightforward messages to claim;
 Speed of processing - applications will be dealt with more efficiently and without the need for significant levels of evidence; 
 Reduced administration costs. The changes will prevent the administration costs from rising year on year, which would be 

inevitable under the current scheme; and
 Climate change – reducing the number of council tax bills, notification letters and other correspondence being sent will 

therefore mean less paper being sent and thus reducing the impact

Who is the proposal likely to affect? Yes No
All residents ☐ ☐

Specific group(s) ☒ ☐

All Council employees ☐ ☐

Specific group(s) of employees ☒ ☐

Other – Provide more details below ☐ ☐

P
age 52



Details 

Outline who could be affected and how they could be affected by the proposal/service change. Include current service users and 
those who could benefit from but do not currently access the service.

Working age applicants who are currently in receipt of Council Tax Reduction or those who apply on or after 1st April 2022. Pension 
age applicants will not be affected as their scheme is covered by the Prescribed Requirement Regulations determined by Central 
Government and therefore remains unchanged. 

The changes will also impact on staff that currently assess Council Tax Reduction claims.  Reducing the number of changes and 
correspondence that staff administer within the current scheme will mean that their time may be used more effectively to support 
residents. The changes will also make the scheme more transparent and easier to understand thus making it easier to manage 
and provide less room for error.

Evidence and data used to inform your equality impact assessment

What data, research, or trend analysis have you used? Describe how you have got your information and what it tells you. 

Modelling of the new scheme has been undertaken throughout and will continue to be undertaken until the 2022/23 scheme is 
approved.

The current modelling data is shown below:

Existing Scheme New Scheme Difference

Numbers Expenditure

Average 
Weekly 
Amount Numbers Expenditure

Average 
Weekly 
Amount

Average 
Weekly 
Gain / 
(Loss) 

Average 
Yearly Gain / 
(Loss)

Single Person 1647 £1,526,963.92 £17.78 1647 £1,505,874.83 £17.53 -£0.25 -£13.04
Couple no 
children 342 £407,923.38 £22.87 342 £401,965.53 £22.54 -£0.33 -£17.21
Single person 
with one child 594 £537,294.30 £17.35 594 £527,073.43 £17.02 -£0.33 -£17.21
Single person two 
or more children 936 £910,657.84 £18.66 936 £839,003.17 £17.19 -£1.47 -£76.65
Couple with one 
child 146 £146,853.94 £19.29 146 £149,690.72 £19.66 +£0.37 £19.29

P
age 53



Couple with two 
or more children 385 £392,524,57 £19.55 385 £379,122.36 £18.89 -£0.66 -£34.41
Applicant Gender 
– Male 1281 £1,217,711.67 £18.23 1281 £1,210,577.18 £18.12 -£0.11 -£5.74
Applicant Gender 
- Female 2769 £2,704,506.26 £18.73 2769 £2,592,152.87 £17.95 -£0.78 -£40.67

 The scheme is designed to protect the households with the lowest incomes and will redistribute the levels of support 
available in a fairer manner. The overall aim of this scheme is for the cost of the 2022-23 scheme to remain cost neutral 
when compared (based on the current caseload) to the current estimated expenditure for the 2021-2022 scheme, and this 
will allow up to 80% support to those applicants on the lowest incomes and those who receive DWP legacy benefits 
including Income Support, Job Seeker’s Allowance (Income Based), Employment and Support Allowance (Income 
Related);

 The scheme will protect applicants who are disabled or where any member of their household is disabled;
 The scheme will be more generous to carers;
 All existing income and capital disregards will apply in the new scheme; and
 All applicants, if they are detrimentally affected by the new scheme, will be able to apply for a payment from the Council’s 

Exceptional Hardship Fund.

Engagement and Consultation

Consultation has taken place with the Major Preceptors (Fire and Rescue, Police and the County Council) on 6 October 2022. 
representatives of the major preceptors being supportive of the way forward and options considered for public consultation

A full public consultation was undertaken for a nine-week period 22 October 2021 and 24 December 2021. This period was 
deemed sufficient by the council’s legal section

The service has devised a stakeholder network map to identify key stakeholder groups. These groups consist of

• Claimants

P
age 54



• Non-claimants

• Elected members

• Landlords

• Local Job Centre

• Third Sector organisations

• Other local authorities

• Parish Councils

• Central Government

• Professional bodies

• Local businesses/ratepayers

•    Council employees

Whilst the consultation was primarily website based, it was recognised that access to computers, smartphones and the internet 
combined with the potential for respondents to lack digital skills could affect the ability of some claimants and residents to 
provide a response. The council worked with the Communications team in order to ensure that there was an effective campaign 
across the council’s social media channels. In the first week, a message including a video was tweeted on the council’s Twitter 
account and placed on Facebook. Additionally an article was placed in the winter edition of Your Borough explaining the 
consultation was taking place and how to take part. The council has nearly 4,700 followers on Twitter and over 11,000 followers 
on Facebook and Your Borough is circulated to 44,000 households. The message was re-posted a number of times throughout 
the consultation.

Council employees were informed of the consultation via publication in Our Borough and included in one of the Chief Executives 
weekly Management Team updates issued via email and text messaging.

The consultation was promoted in the Members’ Bulletin. Additionally all Members were emailed requesting that they bring the 
consultation to the attention of residents and relevant groups/organisations. Members were also asked to raise with the service 
any queries they may have.

P
age 55



The service liaised with the Community Involvement Officer and contacted 31 third sector organisations who were invited to a 
virtual meeting, which was held on 8 December 2021. Where any organisation was unable to attend they were encouraged to 
contact the service in order to make other arrangements.

Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality Duty Aims Evidence

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and
victimisation
How does the proposal/service 
ensure that there is no barrier or 
disproportionate impact for anyone 
with a particular protected 
characteristic

 The new scheme has been designed to support all low-income taxpayers and has 
been created strictly in accordance with the legislative requirements.

 The scheme changes will only apply to working age applicants, pension age 
applicants are covered by the Prescribed Requirement Regulations determined by 
Central Government and will not be affected by these changes.

 Any entitlement is awarded to claimants depending on their financial position and 
the number of people in their household and not any other criteria.

Advance equality of opportunity 
between different groups
How does the proposal/service 
ensure that its intended outcomes 
promote equality of opportunity for 
users? Identify inequalities faced by 
those with specific protected 
characteristic(s).

 All working age are covered by the scheme and any taxpayer who meets the 
criteria will be able to apply for support.

 The scheme will allow easier access to support; maximisation of assistance whilst 
at the same time maintaining the protections from the current scheme.

P
age 56



Foster good relations between 
different groups
Does the service contribute to good 
relations or to broader community 
cohesion objectives? How does it 
achieve this aim?

 Yes, the scheme is designed to:
o Be easily accessible by all applicants;
o Avoid multiple changes to entitlement (and Council Tax) throughout the 

year;
o Be less complicated and more easily understood.

Is there evidence of actual or potential unfairness for the following equality groups?

 Does the proposal target or exclude a specific equality group or community? 
o No, all working age applicants are treated in the same way;

 Does it affect some equality groups or communities differently and can this be justified?
o No

 Is the proposal likely to be equally accessed by all equality groups and communities?  If not, can this be justified?
(It may be useful to consider other groups, not included in the Equality Act, especially if the proposal is specifically for them e.g. 
lone parents, refugees, unemployed people, carers)

 Yes

Impact of proposal

Describe the likely impact of the proposal on people because of their protected characteristic and how they may be affected. How 
likely is it that people with this protected characteristic will be negatively affected? What are the barriers that might make access 
difficult or stop different groups or communities accessing the proposal? How great will that impact be on their well-being? Could 
the proposal promote equality and good relations between different groups? How?

 Details of the impact of the change have been provided above

P
age 57



If you have identified any area of actual or potential unfairness that cannot be justified, can you eliminate or minimise 
this? 

What mitigating actions can be taken to reduce or remove this impact? (Include these in the action plan at the end of the 
assessment) Equal treatment does not always produce equal outcomes; sometimes you will have to take specific steps for 
particular groups to address an existing disadvantage or to meet differing needs.

Protected Group Impact of proposal Justification for any actual or potential unfairness 
identified

If you have identified any area 
of actual or potential 
unfairness that cannot be 
justified, can you eliminate or 
minimise this?

Age Affects working 
age applicants 
only (pension age 
applicants are 
dealt with under 
Central 
Government 
Prescribed 
Scheme)

Disability Protected
Transgender N/A 
Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

N/A

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

N/A

Race N/A
Religion or Belief N/A
Sex (Male/ Female) As with the existing scheme, more female 

applicants will be in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction

Sexual Orientation N/A

P
age 58



How will you monitor any changes identified?

The scheme will be constantly monitored by the service throughout 2022 /23 to ensure that its objectives are met.

The actions required to address these findings are set out below.

Action Required By Whom By When Completion Date

Recommended – Following consideration of the consultation 
responses it is recommended that the new proposed Council Tax 
Reduction scheme be implemented from 1st April 2022. If required, 
this Equality Assessment will be updated/reviewed to reflect any 
amendments made as necessary and any issues raised with the 
Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with the Leader of the       
Executive and Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits & 
Assistant Revenues 
and Benefits 
Manager

30 September 
2022

       

P
age 59



         

Sign off on completion Name Signature Date

Lead Officer completing assessment

Equalities Officer 

P
age 60



CONSULTATION RESULTS Appendix 5 

537 Respondents Yes No Don't Know
Background to the Consultation
1. I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction Scheme: This question must be answered before you can
continue. 98.39% 1.61% -
Changing the Scheme
2. Should the Council keep the current Council Tax Reduction scheme? (Should it continue to administer the scheme as it does at the
moment?) 41.47% 23.75% 34.78%

3. Please use the space below to make any comments you have on protecting the Council Tax Reduction Scheme from these changes.
81 comments - Key themes are :-

'Struggle to pay'
'Why change'
'Not broke why fix it'
'Complicated'

Part 1 – The introduction of an Income Grid scheme to replace the current scheme
for all applicants of working age
Aim: To provide greater stability to those who are in receipt of Council Tax Reduction whilst making the scheme work better with the
Universal Credit award system
4. Do you agree with the changes to the scheme to introduce an income-based banded discount scheme? 57.20% 11.52% 31.28%
5. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
31 comments Key themes are :-

'How is Income calculated?'
'Council tax keeps changing monthly'
'How will this affect me?'

Part 2 - Removing the transitional protection awarded to certain pre-2017 claims
Aim: To make the scheme more transparent and easier to understand
6. Do you agree with this change to the scheme 57.76% 12.07% 30.17%
7. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
23 comments Key themes are :-

'Financial strain on larger families'

Part 3 – Removing the current level of earnings we do not count when calculating a Council Tax Reduction and instead not counting the
first £25 per week earned by all working applicants
Aim: Provide additional protection
8. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 61.50% 10.18% 28.32%
9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
17 comments  Key themes are :-

'Keep it the same'
' Will affect larger families'

P
age 61



Yes No Don't Know
Part 4 – Removing the Extended Payment provision
Aim: To make the scheme more transparent and easier to understand
10. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 57.14% 13.37% 29.49%
11. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
22 comments  Key themes are :-

' People will go into arrears'
'disincentive to work'

Part 5 – Any new claim or change in circumstances which changes Council Tax Reduction entitlement will be made from the date on which
the change occurs, rather than on a weekly basis as at present
Aim: To make the scheme more transparent and easier to understand
12. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 73.81% 5.71% 20.48%
13. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
10 comments Key theme is :-

'Will Increase admin costs?'

Part 6 – Extending the ‘backdating’ provisions within the scheme
Aim: To make the scheme easier for claimants and potential claimants to access
14. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 77.67% 6.80% 15.53%
15. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
12 comments

No theme respondents suggested should be between 1 to 12 months

Part 7 – Protecting disabled persons by ignoring Personal Independence Payments or Disability Living Allowance and ignoring a further £40
of income per week where the applicant, partner or dependant is in receipt of disability benefit
Aim: Provide additional protection
16. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 82.84% 3.92% 13.24%
17. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
9 comments Key theme is :-

'Support protection'

Part 8 – Ignoring Carer's Allowance and the Support Component of the Employment and Support Allowance
Aim: Provide additional protection
18. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 76.47% 5.88% 17.65%
19. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
7 comments Key theme is :-

'Should be counted'

Part 9 – Introducing a Minimum Income Floor for certain self-employed applicants
Aim: To make the scheme more transparent and easier to understand
20. Do you agree with this change to the scheme? 61.00% 9.50% 29.50%
21. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?
16 comments Key theme is :-

'Do not assume income'

P
age 62



Yes No Don't Know
Alternatives to changing the Council Tax Reduction Scheme
22. Increase the level of Council Tax to cover the rising administration costs? 15.66% 58.08% 26.26%
23. Find the additional administration costs by cutting other Council Services? 28.79% 42.93% 28.28%
24. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.
26 comments Key themes are :-

'Cut costs or services'
'Sound proposal'
'Keep current scheme'
'Avoid council tax increases'

25. Please use the space below if you would like the council to consider any other options (please state).
8 comments Key theme is :-

'Reduce costs'
'Increase income'

26. If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax Reduction Scheme that you haven't had opportunity to
raise elsewhere, please use the space below.
20 comments Key theme are :-

'Too complicated'
'Protect pensioners'

About You
27. Are you completing this form on behalf of an organisation or group? 2.07% 97.93% -
Questions for Individuals
28. Do you live in Gravesham? 99.45% 0.55% -
29. Are you currently receiving Council Tax Reduction? 79.12% 20.88% -
30. Are you or your partner in work or self-employed? 33.52% 66.48% -
31. Are you liable to pay Council Tax? 88.33% 11.67% -
32. Do you have more than two pre-school or school age children in your household? 16.39% 83.61% -
33. Are you currently serving in the Armed Forces? 0.00% 100.00% -
34. Which gender do you identify with?

P
age 63



35. What is your age?

36. Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12
months?

37. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group? Representation

Ethnic Origin

Ethnic
Origin -
Respon
dents

Ethnic
Origin -

Community
Profile:

Gravesham*

2021 (+/-) 2017
survey (+/-)

British 81.3% 77.1% 4.2% 3.5%
Irish 0.5% 0.8% -0.3% 0.7%

Gypsy/Irish Traveller 0.0% 0.3% -0.3% -0.3%
Any other White 5.5% 4.6% 0.9% 0.5%

White & Black African 0.0% 0.4% -0.4% 0.3%
White & Asian 0.0% 0.6% -0.6% -0.2%

Any other Multi Mixed 0.0% 0.5% -0.5% -0.5%
Pakistani 0.0% 0.5% -0.5% -0.5%

Indian 3.9% 7.4% -3.5% -6.7%
Bangladeshi 0.0% 0.5% -0.5% -0.5%

Chinese 0.0% 0.3% -0.3% -0.3%
Any other Asian 0.6% 1.7% -1.1% -1.7%

African 1.6% 2.2% -0.6% -1.1%

P
age 64



Representation

Ethnic Origin

Ethnic
Origin -
Respon
dents

Ethnic
Origin -

Community
Profile:

Gravesham*

2021 (+/-) 2017
survey (+/-)

Caribbean 1.1% 0.4% 0.7% -0.4%
Any other Black 2.2% 0.2% 2.0% -0.2%

Arab 0.3% 0.1% -0.1% 0.3%
Other Ethnic Group N/A 1.8%

Prefer not to say 3.0% N/A

*Source: Census 2011

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification:   Public
Key Decision:    No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee

Date: 09 February 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Surveillance Camera Local Authority Code of Practice

Purpose and summary of report: 
To consult with the Committee on a draft Surveillance Camera Local Authority Code of 
Practice for the Council.

Recommendations:
1. Members note and comment on the draft Code of Practice.

1. Local Authority Code of Practice

1.1 This council, as with many other local authorities, has in recent decades seen an 
expansion in the use of surveillance cameras for a range of purposes related to 
public safety, personal safety, building security, enforcement and investigation.  
Advancement of camera technology has facilitated this expansion and they will 
continue to do so in the future.    

1.2 The council is responsible for ensuring that each surveillance camera system that 
it operates has a clearly defined purpose; considers the effect that their use has 
on individuals and their privacy; and, that they are operated in a manner which 
meets the council’s statutory responsibilities and complies with the Surveillance 
Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice.

1.3 To date, each council service operating a surveillance camera system has been 
responsible for having policies and procedures for their use, Data Protection 
Impact Assessments (DPIAs) are complete and the use of cameras is reviewed 
regularly, especially when changes take place.  In these circumstances, the 
Surveillance Camera Commissioner advises that a Local Authority Code of 
Practice (LA Code) is also put in place to demonstrate that it is meeting its legal 
obligations and adherence to the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of 
Practice and its 12 principles.

1.4 A draft LA Code is appended to this report. In addition to demonstrating the 
intention to comply with the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of 
Practice, the LA Code identifies officers within the council who are responsible for 
the integrity and effectiveness of its surveillance camera scheme policies and 

Page 67 Agenda Item 7



2

compliance with the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice.  
Steps are also being taken to combine existing and future documentation into a 
Code of Assessment Pack (CAP) for each surveillance camera system operated 
by the council.  These will be retained centrally and assessed annually to 
demonstrate compliance.

1.5 Members are asked to comment on the policy.

2. BACKGROUND PAPERS

2.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 68



IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

Legal The adoption of an overarching Local Authority Code of Practice (LA Code) will 
assist the Council to demonstrate that it is fulfilling its legal obligations and 
complying with the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

No financial implications.

Risk Assessment Adoption of an overarching Local Authority Code of Practice for the surveillance 
camera systems that the council operates will help ensure that the council is 
meeting its obligations in respect of their operation, especially in respect of 
compliance when changes are proposed.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

Climate Change There are no direct climate change implications resulting from this report.

Crime and Disorder Surveillance camera systems are operated by the council and community safety 
activity in respect of public safety, personal safety, security, enforcement and 
investigation.  Technological advances are expanding the use of surveillance 
cameras in these areas and this LA Code of Practice will ensure that their operation 

Page 69

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1
complies with the council’s legal obligations and the Surveillance Camera 
Commissioner’s Code of Practice and that any changes to systems are properly 
assessed and reviewed according to their specified purpose.

Digital and website 
implications

The LA Code will help ensure that camera systems are operated correctly, 
especially is respect of the storage of digital data, and changes to systems properly 
considered. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications resulting from this report, although 
the public safety camera systems have a bearing on safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults in public spaces.

Page 70



1

Gravesham Borough Council
Surveillance Camera Local Authority Code of Practice (LA Code)

1. Introduction

1.1. Gravesham Borough Council uses a range of surveillance camera systems for a 
variety of purposes.  These are managed directly by the council or, in a couple of 
instances, through another party.

1.2. To ensure that the use of any surveillance camera system considers the effect on 
individuals and their privacy, they must be operated in a manner which meets the 
council’s statutory responsibilities and complies with the Surveillance Camera 
Commissioner’s (SCC’s) Code of Practice.  The Code of Practice applies to the 
use of surveillance camera systems that operate in public places throughout 
England and Wales.

2. Aim

2.1. The aim of this Local Authority Code of Practice (LA Code) is to set out the 
council’s commitment and approach to meeting its legal obligations when using 
surveillance camera systems.  This currently includes:

2.1.1.1. Data Protection Act 2018
2.1.1.2. UK General Data Protection Regulation
2.1.1.3. Protection of Freedoms Act 2012
2.1.1.4. Regulation of Freedoms Act 2000

2.2. This LA Code is part of the council’s process for having in place effective 
review and audit mechanisms to ensure that legal requirements, policies and 
standards are complied with in practice and reported upon.  Specifically, this 
policy helps the council to comply with the Surveillance Commissioner’s Camera 
Code of Practice and the CCTV Code of Practice issued by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO).

2.3. This LA Code should be read alongside the council’s Data Protection Policy, 
which is concerned with how the council processes personal data.  This can be 
found at (insert link to www.gravesham.gov.uk).  

3. For further information on the council’s Surveillance Camera LA Code, please visit (insert 
link to www.gravesham.gov.uk page when code agreed).

3.1. This LA Code applies to all overt (open) use of surveillance camera systems by the 
council.  A surveillance camera system, defined by the Protection of Freedoms Act 
2012, means:

3.1.1. Closed circuit television of automatic number plate recognition systems,
3.1.2. Any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance 

purposes,
3.1.3. Any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing or checking 

images or information obtained by systems falling within the categories 
above, or

3.1.4. Any other systems associated with, or otherwise connected with, systems 
falling within those listed above.

Page 71

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/


Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

2 | P a g e

3.2. Within the council these systems could include:

3.2.1. Internal and external close-circuit television (CCTV)
3.2.2. Body Worn Video (BWV)
3.2.3. Vehicle Mounted Cameras
3.2.4. Dashboards mounted cameras (‘dash-cams’)
3.2.5. Mobile camera systems
3.2.6. Automatic number plate recognition (ANPR), including bus gate 

management
3.2.7. Unmanned aerial systems (UAS/Drones)

1.1. Use of covert (secret) surveillance camera systems is governed specifically by the 
Regulations of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).  This LA Code does not apply 
to any use of such systems as those are set out in the council’s RIPA Policy (insert 
link).

4. Adherence to the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice

4.1. The use of surveillance cameras by local authorities in a variety of public settings 
and circumstances has expanded considerably in recent years, ranging from public 
safety, personal safety, building security, enforcement and investigation.

4.2. Technology is advancing, leading to additional and more varied requests for use of 
cameras, such as body worn cameras, dash cams, drones, automatic number plate 
recognition (ANPR) and Automatic Facial Recognition (AFR) within a public space.

4.3. The Protection of Freedoms Act (2012) governs the use of such surveillance camera 
systems and introduced a Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (2013)1 to ensure 
that the use of cameras in public places is regulated and only used in pursuit of a 
specified purpose.  In so doing, this balances the need for cameras in public places 
with individuals’ right to privacy.

4.4. The systems currently operated by the council are listed in Appendix 1.  As a 
‘relevant authority’ under the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, the council is 
required to comply with the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice for their use, 
regardless of whether or not there is any live viewing, or recording of images or 
information or associated data.

4.5. To meet its obligations under the Protection of Freedoms Act (2012), the council is 
committed to adhering to the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of 
Practice, including the 12 principles set out in the Code of Practice when it operates 
a surveillance camera system overtly in a public space.

4.6. Against those 12 principles, each system should:
 

1. Have a defined purpose and legitimate aim 
2. Not impinge on an individual’s privacy or human rights 
3. Be operated transparently so people know they are being monitored 
4. Be operated with good governance 
5. Have clear policies, rules and procedures in place 
6. Store no more images/data than strictly required 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice


Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

3 | P a g e

7. Have safeguards in place in relation to who can view images/data 
8. Meet relevant and approved standards 
9. Ensure images/data are stored securely 
10. Review systems regularly (at least annually) 
11. Be effective in supporting law enforcement 
12. Databases used for matching purposes should be accurate and up to date 

4.7. A Self-Assessment Tool2 has been prepared by the Surveillance Camera 
Commissioner to help relevant authorities to ensure their compliance with the 
Code of Practice.  The council will make use of this tool when any changes are 
proposed to existing surveillance camera systems or the deployment of new 
systems are being considered.  

4.8. This LA Code is part of the council’s process for ensuring that effective review 
and audit mechanisms are in place to ensure that legal requirements, policies 
and standards are complied with in practice and reported upon.

4.9. In complying with the Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice and 
in adherence with its guiding principles, the council will ensure that:

4.9.1. Each surveillance camera system will have its own set of specific 
objectives, for example covering areas and premises for which the 
council has responsibility for the purpose of deterring and detecting 
crime and anti-social behaviour.

4.9.2. The use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate 
aim and its installation or deployment is a necessary and proportionate 
response in that circumstance.

4.9.3. The use of surveillance camera systems is subject to a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA)3, to take into account its effect on 
individuals and their privacy, and these will be reviewed regularly.

4.9.4. Proportionate consultation and engagement with the public and 
partners will take place to assess the aim and need for a surveillance 
camera system.

4.9.5. Clear signage is in place to identify an area where a surveillance 
camera system is in place, its purpose, operational responsibility and 
point of contact for further information and response to concerns or 
complaints.

4.9.6. There are clear lines of responsibility and accountability for all 
surveillance camera system activities, including access to images and 
recordings collected, held and used; and memorandums of 
understanding are in place for externally operated systems.

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-
assessment-tool

3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-
surveillance-cameras

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-surveillance-cameras
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-surveillance-cameras


Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

4 | P a g e

4.9.7. That a single point of contact is identified within the council’s 
governance arrangements and those details are available via the 
council’s website.

4.9.8. That staff responsible for surveillance camera systems, including 
externally operated systems, are aware of their roles, obligations and 
lines of responsibility; and, are appropriately trained.

4.9.9. Clear and effective rules, policies and procedures are in place for each 
surveillance camera system and that they have been communicated to 
those that need to comply with them.

4.9.10. Images and information obtained from a surveillance camera system 
shall be subject to the council’s information security policies and 
procedures.

4.9.11. Images and information obtained from a surveillance camera system 
shall not be kept for longer than is necessary to fulfil the purpose for 
which they were obtained.

4.9.12. Retention periods shall be agreed for each surveillance camera system 
and will be reviewed at appropriate intervals.

4.9.13. Access to images and recordings obtained from a surveillance camera 
system shall be restricted against clearly defined rules and requests for 
disclosure shall be documented and controlled to ensure consistency 
with the specified purpose of the system or for law enforcement.

4.9.14. Individuals are able to exercise their data protection rights in respect of 
images and recordings obtained from a surveillance camera system.  
Such requests will be considered in accordance with data protection 
legislation.

4.9.15. Approved operational, technical and competency standards relevant to 
the purpose of a surveillance camera system are met by operators4.

5. Roles & Responsibilities

5.1. The implementation of this LA Code is dependent on the council having in place the 
following roles and responsibilities for which named individuals are set out and 
updated within Appendix 2.

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO)

5.2. They have strategic responsibility for the integrity and effectiveness of the 
processes in place for the use of surveillance camera systems.

4 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/recommended-standards-for-the-cctv-industry

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/recommended-standards-for-the-cctv-industry


Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

5 | P a g e

Single Point of Contact (SPoC)5

5.3. They have operational responsibility for matters relating to surveillance cameras 
and support the Responsible Officer (SRO) regarding compliance with the 
Protection of Freedom Act.  They should:

5.3.1. carry out an audit of the local authority schemes – type, camera 
locations and responsible individuals;

5.3.2. act as the main contact point for anything related to surveillance 
camera systems, and can introduce consistent surveillance camera 
policies and procedures applied to all systems at an operational level;

5.3.3. ensure that operational staff are properly trained, developed and are up 
to date on changes to legislation;

5.3.4. help standardise signage, set out clear roles and responsibilities, 
improve competence across the organisation and set up a governance 
board to scrutinise the use of CCTV across the local authority;

5.3.5. advise on changes to schemes, including adding or removing cameras, 
and where they are best located.

Responsible Officer (RO)

5.4. They are appointed for each surveillance camera system and are responsible for 
the day-to-day management of the system, even where schemes may be 
managed externally to the council.

5.5. They will be asked by the Single Point of Contact to complete an annual 
questionnaire to identify any changes to the system, whether the system remains 
fit for purpose and whether a maintenance contract is still in place for the 
system.

5.6. They will ensure that a Code of Assessment Pack (CAP) is maintained for their 
scheme.   This will demonstrate that each scheme continues to be operated in 
compliance with the LA Code and will evidence the annual desktop assessment 
undertaken by the SPOC.  A list of what a CAP should include is set out in 
Appendix 3.

6. Local Authority Code of Practice Review

6.1. This LA Code will be reviewed annually and updated to reflect any other applicable 
law concerning the use of surveillance camera systems, processing of personal data 
and privacy.

5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-
for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact


Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

6 | P a g e

Appendix 1
Overview of Surveillance Cameras Operated by Gravesham 
Borough Council

This is an overview of the surveillance camera systems currently operated by the council.  
This is developed further in the Code of Assessment Pack for each scheme.

Community Safety – Public Space CCTV Cameras

CCTV camera surveillance systems are operated in public spaces as a tracking and 
investigatory tool in respect of crime and anti-social behaviour and as a deterrent to protect 
the safety of the community.

Gravesham Borough Council’s public space CCTV cameras are predominantly located in 
Gravesend Town Centre with others within public parks.  Where cameras are used in a 
locality, these are identified by appropriate signage.  The Council also has a limited number 
of rapid deployment cameras, including some units with Automatic Number Plate 
Recognition (ANPR) capacity.  Requests are received to deploy these in consultation with 
Kent Police and for specific investigatory purposes.

The Council’s public space CCTV surveillance cameras are the responsibility of the council’s 
Community Safety Unit (CSU) and are operated by Kyndi under a Memorandum of 
Understanding jointly with Medway Council.

Housing Services – Estate Management

CCTV surveillance cameras are operated in specified internal and external spaces and 
locations within the council’s housing estates.  The system is used to deter and investigate 
crime and anti-social behaviour, thereby enhance security of those residential areas.  Where 
cameras are used in a locality, these are identified by appropriate signage.

The council’s Housing Services department are responsible for this system with policies and 
procedures in place following the transfer of their operation to Kyndi in 2021.

Parking Services – Civil Enforcement – Body-worn Cameras

Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) within Parking Services wear body-worn cameras when 
on parking enforcement patrols.  These are used to deter physical and verbal abuse to these 
and to collate evidence should that arise.

Policies and operational procedures are in place for their use.  They are clearly visible and 
are operated in an overt manner, with Civil Enforcement Officers communicating clearly and 
verbally when camera recording is taking place.

Environmental Enforcement – Body-worn Cameras

Street Scene Enforcement Officers (SSEOs) within the council’s Environmental Enforcement 
team wear body-worn cameras when on investigation activity related to fly tipping and when 
approaching individuals whom they suspect have been littering or fly-tipping.

Page 76



Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

7 | P a g e

Policies and operational procedures are in place for their use.  They are clearly visible and 
are operated in an overt manner, with Street Scene Enforcement Officers communicating 
clearly and verbally when camera recording is taking place.

Fleet Management – Freighter Vehicle Cameras and Van Dash Cams
CCTV systems have been installed to waste freighters and dash cameras to other fleet 
vehicles.  These provide access to images for specified lawful purposes, including accident 
investigation, such as near miss reporting, investigation of insurance claims by third parties; 
investigation and identification of dangerous activities, breach of council policy and 
misconduct; assessing access issues to properties; investigating complaints; and for training 
purposes.  The cameras are not used for covert surveillance.

Property Services – Civic Buildings CCTV

The council uses CCTV systems in and around its buildings at the Civic Centre, Brookvale 
and at Gravesend Borough Market.  These protect areas used by staff and the public and 
are used to deter and detect crime and anti-social behaviour; to reduce/prevent violent or 
aggressive behaviour towards staff; to protect property and assets owned by the council and 
to assist in staff disciplinary, grievance, formal complaints and Health and Safety 
Investigations.

Page 77



Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

8 | P a g e

Appendix 2
Operation of Surveillance Cameras - Nominated Officers

The Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice requires local authorities to 
nominate responsible officers for each scheme6.  The Chief Executive appoints officers 
to these roles and from time to time these may be changed if personnel change or 
responsibilities. 

They are as follows:

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) - Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)
 
Single Point of Contact (SPoC) – Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities) 

Responsible Officers (RO) for each scheme are as follows:

Public Space CCTV Cameras Sean Steer, Community Safety 
Operations Manager

Housing Services Estate Management 
CCTV Cameras

Nicole Arthur, Service Manager (Housing 
Operations)

Parking Services Civil Enforcement Body-
worn Cameras

Nick May, Parking & Environmental 
Enforcement Services Manager

Environmental Enforcement Body-worn 
Cameras

Tim Harris, Environmental Enforcement 
Manager

Fleet Management Freighter Vehicle 
Cameras and Van Dash Cams

Ronnie Helen, Waste & Transport 
Manager

Civic Buildings CCTV Stuart Crowley, Building and Facilities 
Manager

These positions will be confirmed or updated as part of annual reviews of the council’s 
surveillance camera operations.

6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-
guidance-for-local-authorities.

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities


Gravesham Borough Council - Surveillance Camera Policy – February 2022

9 | P a g e

Appendix 3
Code of Assessment Pack (CAP)
1. Responsible Officers (ROs) are required to ensure that a Code of Assessment Pack 

(CAP) is maintained for individual surveillance camera schemes.   This will 
demonstrate that each scheme continues to be operated in compliance with the LA 
Code and will evidence the annual desktop assessment undertaken by the SPOC.

2. A CAP should include:

 evidence of compliance, i.e. completion of a Self Assessment Tool and Data 
Protection Impact Assessment, and documenting procedures, policies and privacy 
information

 overview of scheme documents and details of review
 declaration of compliance, supported by an asset list of surveillance camera 

equipment operated
 record of individuals with authorised access to the scheme and the levels of access 

approved
 record of training of operator on handling training on handling personal data and of 

authorised individuals, including signed confidentiality agreements
 Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs) completed and record of review
 Annual review demonstrating a need to operate the scheme and the cameras 

connected to it, and that the scheme continues to be operated in compliance with 
relevant legislation and codes of practice.  This can be covered by a response to an 
annual questionnaire, circulated by the Single Point of Contact, to confirm:

o specified purpose of the scheme
o annual review of every camera
o maintenance checks undertaken
o scope and any changes to this
o DPIAs undertaken and reviewed
o compliance with relevant legislation and codes of practice
o annual report of any inspections, contracts associated with the scheme, 

number of compliments and complaints in relation to the scheme and 
details of the scheme’s performance and priorities, etc.

o self-assessment tool (SAT) annual review.
o signage – details of the type of surveillance camera in use, the purpose of 

its use, who controls the scheme and contact details for further 
information.  Image of the scheme’s sign pasted into the CAP. 

o cyber considerations – confirmation of checks in place to protect data with 
appropriate security measures e.g. if networked systems then there should 
be up to date firmware, strong passwords and penetration tests should be 
carried out.

More detail can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-
a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-
contact

Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-surveillance-cameras
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact-guidance-for-local-authorities/introducing-a-single-point-of-contact


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Objectives
	6 Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	Appendix 2 Consultation Document
	Appendix 3  Letter to claimant or resident
	Appendix 4 Equality Impact Assessment review 20220112
	Appendix 5  Consultation results summary

	7 Surveillance Camera Policy
	Surveillance Camera LA Code of Practice - Gravesham Borough Council Draft February 2022


